IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 23-0462

CITY OF KALISPELL,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

SEAN MICHAEL DOMAN,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Montana Eleventh Judicial District Court, Flathead County, the Honorable Robert Allison, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

TAMMY A. HINDERMAN Division Administrator CAROLYN GIBADLO Assistant Appellate Defender Office of State Public Defender Appellate Defender Division P.O. Box 200147 Helena, MT 59620-0147 CGibadlo@mt.gov (406) 444-9505

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT AND APPELLANT AUSTIN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General TAMMY K PLUBELL Bureau Chief Appellate Services Bureau P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

1. Sean Doman peacefully filmed a traffic stop from afar, he did not approach the officer conducting the stop, and he was standing on a public sidewalk. Ultimately, the stop was conducted without any delay. Could a reasonable juror find that Sean hindered the enforcement of criminal law?

2. Sean was exercising his First Amendment right to record in public; for recording an officer conduct a traffic stop, he was convicted of obstructing a peace officer. Was § 45-7-302 constitutionally applied to the facts of Sean's case?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On Sunday, July 17, 2022, Sean Doman was riding his bike in Kalispell, Montana, when he stopped and used his phone to record an officer who had pulled over a Native American male. (St.'s Ex. 1, at Video 1¹; 03/08/2023 Trial Audio Recording (Tr. Audio at 03:55:00).)

¹ The City's exhibit 1 includes three videos: Video 1 is Officer Willey's bodycam; Video 2 is Officer Willey's dashcam; and Video 3 is Officer Minaglia's bodycam. Instead of repeating St.'s Ex. in each citation, all further citations will cite directly to the videos.

Sean was charged with obstructing a peace officer. (Muni. Doc. 37.)² He was convicted at trial and sentenced to 180 days in jail, all but one day suspended. (Muni. Doc. 8; attached as Appellant's Exhibit A.) He was fined \$400 with \$200 suspended and ordered to pay \$50 for the cost of prosecution and \$288 in jury fees. (*Id.*) Sean appealed to the Eleventh Judicial District Court, which affirmed his conviction. (D.C. Doc. 5; attached as Appellant's Exhibit B.) Sean timely appealed to this Court. (D.C. Doc. 7.) His sentence is stayed pending appeal. (Muni. Doc. 3.)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Sean was riding his bike down First Avenue, a residential street, on a sunny, Sunday afternoon when he saw Officer Dustin Willey conducting a traffic stop. (Video 1; Tr. Audio, at 02:52:00–02:53:00.) Willey pulled over Lucas Bearchild for failing to use his blinker and because Bearchild's license was suspended. (Tr. Audio at 02:52:00– 02:53:00.) Bearchild provided proof of insurance and confirmed his

² Citations to "Muni. Doc." refer to the documents listed in the receipt from the Kalispell municipal court that are listed in reverse chronological order with the probable cause affidavit being the last document (Muni. Doc. 38) and the letter of transmittal certification being the first, (Muni. Doc. 1.). Citations to "D.C. Doc." refer to documents in the Flathead County register of action listing, which includes documents one through nine in chronological order.

identity but could not provide his license. Willey confirmed he had "all the info [he] need[ed]" and returned to his patrol car. (Video 1, at 00:00:45–00:02:21.)

Sean stopped his bicycle on the sidewalk on the passenger's side of the car, opposite from where Willey had approached the vehicle, stood fifteen feet away, straddled his bicycle, and started to film the stop on his cell phone. (Video 2, at 00:04:40-0:04:55; Tr. Audio at 04:46:00-04:47:00.) Sean did not approach Willey or his patrol car, but he did make a brief hand gesture towards the passenger, whose window was rolled up and who did not respond. Willey learned from dispatch that Bearchild did not have any violent history or outstanding warrants. (Tr. Audio at 03:46:00–03:47:00.) Regardless, he had a "gut feeling" Bearchild was "a little sketchy" and he is trained to ask for backup when someone is filming, so he radioed dispatch for backup because "someone was rolling up filming." (Video 1, at 00:04:00-00:04:12; Tr. Audio at 03:13:00-03:15:00.)

Officer George Minaglia sped to the scene, hitting the curb as he parked behind Willey's patrol car. (Tr. Audio at 00:05:16–00:05:17.) Without talking to Willey first, he hurried towards Sean and

immediately told him to back up. (Video 3, at 00:00:15-00:00:30.) Sean, sitting on his bike, complied and rolled away from the traffic stop until he was behind Bearchild's vehicle and across from the backend of Willey's car. (Video 3, at 00:00:18-00:00:36.) He then stopped, told Minaglia he was simply filming on a public sidewalk, and stated three times that he was not interfering with the stop. (Video 3, at 00:00:30-00:01:00.) Minaglia demanded that Sean move even further down the sidewalk to an area across from the backend of Minaglia's car, more than three car lengths away from the stop. (Id.) Sean repeated that he wanted to be able to record audio, and Minaglia quickly grew frustrated. (Id.) After only 49 seconds of talking to Sean, Minaglia grabbed Sean's phone out of his hand, tossed it to the ground, and shoved Sean forward. (Video 3, at 00:00:40-00:01:15.)

Sean slowly dismounted his bike, picked his cell phone up off the ground, and told Minaglia he would "sue the fuck out of him." (Video 3, at 00:00:40–00:01:15.) Sean repeatedly asked Minaglia where he wanted him to stand and Minaglia told him to "keep moving." (Video 3, at 00:01:16–00:01:34.) Minaglia never told Sean there were "officer safety concerns" and instead claimed Sean's presence was "distracting"

him from helping Willey conduct the traffic stop. (Video 2, 00:00:23– 00:01:52; Tr. Audio at 05:04:00–05:07:00.) Minaglia testified that he would not be able to hear from so far away. (Tr. Audio at 05:10:28– 05:10:45) Regardless, Minaglia threatened "you can move over by the tree or you can be arrested," so Sean, while guiding his bike backwards by the handlebars, slowly backed up even further. (Video 3, at 00:01:38– 00:01:48.)

As he walked backwards and away from the traffic stop, Sean called Minaglia a tyrant. (Video 3, at 00:01:48.) Even though Sean was still walking backwards, Minaglia told Sean to "stop," grabbed Sean's arms, and put them behind his back. (*Id.*). Sean laughed in disbelief, and said, "he's arresting me for calling him tyrant." Willey briefly came over to watch Minaglia place the handcuffs on Sean. The entire interaction from Minaglia's arrival to Sean's arrest lasted less than 90 seconds. (Video 3.)

In the citation, Minaglia claimed he was called to the traffic stop because "a subject was interfering with [Willey's] investigation." (Muni. Doc. 37.) However, Willey never told Minaglia through dispatch or otherwise that Sean was interfering. At trial, Willey explained that

 $\mathbf{5}$

Minaglia was called to the scene to "watch" Sean because it was protocol to call for backup when someone was filming. (Tr. Audio at 04:10:00–04:11:00.)

Similarly, Willey did not call Minaglia to the scene to assist in issuing a traffic ticket, and Willey conducted the stop without delay. (Tr. Audio at 04:10:00–04:11:00.) Even after Sean was arrested, Willey had to wait several minutes to issue the citation to Bearchild because he was still waiting for Bearchild's driving record from dispatch. (Tr. Audio at 04:15:00–00:4:16.) Additionally, a third officer, Officer Kronan arrived at the scene while Minaglia was ordering Sean to back up. Kronan never spoke with Sean and, although he was available to help Willey with the traffic stop, Willey did not need his help either. (*Id.*)

Minaglia claimed in the citation that Sean refused to "separate himself from the scene" and "ultimately refused" to back up. (Muni. Doc. 37.) But, at trial, Minaglia changed his tune and acknowledged that he arrested Sean while he was still backing up. Minaglia's bodycam showed that Sean had moved to an area far away from Bearchild's car and was still walking away when Minaglia decided to arrest him. (Video 3, at 00:00:25–00:01:56.) Instead, Minaglia claimed, at trial, that Sean

was moving "excessively slow," which he considered "passively resisting." (Tr. Audio at 05:03:00–05:06:00.) According to Minaglia, even though Sean was walking backwards and away from the traffic stop, as Minaglia had asked him to do, that did not "count as cooperation." (Tr. Audio at 05:03:00–05:06:00.)

Sean moved the municipal court to dismiss for insufficient evidence on the basis that there was no evidence Sean knowingly hindered the traffic stop, but the court denied the motion. (Tr. Audio at 06:03:00.)

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

This Court reviews de novo whether sufficient evidence supports a conviction. *State v. Christensen*, 2020 MT 237, ¶ 11, 401 Mont. 247, 472 P.3d 622. This Court considers the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution and determines whether a rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. *Christensen*, ¶ 11.

The constitutionality of a statute is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Knudson*, 2007 MT 324, ¶ 12, 340 Mont. 167, 174 P.3d 469.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Sean did nothing more than peacefully record a traffic stop on his phone from a public sidewalk, consistent with his First Amendment right. Sean did not hinder the enforcement of criminal law. Nor was he "aware of a high probability" that his conduct would interfere with the traffic stop. He never approached Willey during the stop and, when approached by Minaglia, he thrice stated that he would not interfere. Minaglia was vague about why Sean needed to move back so far and never told Sean that he created a "safety risk." Sean had no reason to believe that his peaceful recording would prevent Willey from issuing Bearchild a citation.

Sean never refused to comply with Mangalia's order to back up, and Minaglia admitted as much at trial. And, Willey issued Bearchild the traffic citation without any delay. Sean was arrested because he questioned Minaglia and called him a tyrant, but Sean's speech cannot be the requisite act for the obstructing charge because it is protected speech under the First Amendment³. Sean did not hinder the stop, and

³ Sean's raises his claims under both the Montana and United States Constitutions, but, for simplicity, his federal and state right to free speech is referred to as his First Amendment right throughout the brief.

the City of Kalispell failed to establish that Sean committed the offense of obstructing a peace officer.

Additionally, § 45-7-302 is unconstitutional as applied to Sean. Sean acted well within his First Amendment right to record. To impose a lawful restriction on Sean's First Amendment right to record, the restriction must be "actually necessary" to prevent a particular injury. Sean was peacefully filming from a comfortable distance, he did not approach or bother Willey, and he was in a public space; therefore, Minaglia had no basis to limit his act of recording.

Subsection (2) of § 45-7-302, Mont. Code Ann., was also unconstitutionally applied and, as a result, prevented Sean from asserting his First Amendment protections as a defense. The City relied on subsection (2) to argue—even if Sean was engaged in a constitutionally protected activity—his First Amendment guarantees were "no defense to a prosecution," because Minaglia was a police officer acting within his "official authority." However, subsection (2)'s legislative history clearly indicates that it only applies when the accused is using or threatening to use violence or force. Sean never used violence or force. Additionally, subsection (2) cannot mean that Sean's

First Amendment protections were not a defense, because the Montana Legislature does not have the authority to abrogate constitutional rights by statute. Sean's First Amendment protections were, in fact, a defense to the prosecution. However, the City's and district court's overbroad and unconstitutional application of subsection (2) left Sean unable to assert his First Amendment rights. Section 45-7-302 was unconstitutionally applied to Sean.

ARGUMENT

I. Sean did not knowingly hinder Officer Willey from issuing a traffic ticket. He recorded police activity from a public sidewalk.

To establish the charge of obstructing a peace officer, the City had to prove Sean was aware his conduct would hinder the enforcement of criminal law. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 45-7-302(1); 45-2-101(34). Section 45-7-302(1) states: "A person commits the offense of obstructing a peace officer or public servant if the person knowingly obstructs, impairs, or hinders the enforcement of the criminal law[.]" A person acts knowingly when he is aware that there is a high probability that his conduct will cause a specific result. Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-101(35); *State v*. Secrease, 2021 MT 212, ¶ 12, 405 Mont. 229, 493 P.3d 335. Here, that result is hindering the enforcement of the criminal law.

In State v. Bennett, 2022 MT 73, 408 Mont. 209, 507 P.3d 1154, Officer Loya approached Bennett after someone reported to him that she entered Missoula's homeless shelter in violation of an order of protection. Bennett, ¶ 3. Loya only told Bennet he wanted to talk "about something that someone reported." Bennett, ¶ 4. Bennett responded that she did not "know what the fuck [Loya was] talking about," called him "dumb," and walked away. Bennett, ¶ 4. Loya arrested Bennett and charged her with obstructing a peace officer by "attempt[ing] to walk away from officers while being questioned." Bennett, ¶ 5. At trial, Bennett moved to dismiss the charge for insufficient evidence, but the motion was denied, and she was convicted. On appeal, the district court affirmed the conviction. Bennett, ¶ 6.

This Court reversed the conviction for insufficient evidence because nothing in the forty-second encounter established that Bennett hindered Loya's performance of his duty, "much less that she was aware her conduct was highly probable to hinder the performance of that duty." *Bennett*, ¶ 10. Loya did not tell Bennett she was under

investigation, only that he wanted to discuss "something that someone reported." Loya was vague in his inquiries and Bennett responded to his questions. *Bennett*, ¶ 11. Her being "coarse" and "lacking in etiquette" was not sufficient to support a conviction. *Bennett*, ¶¶ 10–11. Therefore, this Court ordered a judgment of acquittal be entered and the conviction reversed.

In City of Kalispell v. Cameron, 2002 MT 78, 309 Mont. 248, 46 P.3d 46, the accused was charged with obstructing a peace officer after refusing to abide by an officer's orders. Cameron was the passenger of a vehicle where the driver was being investigated for DUI. Cameron, ¶ 4. Officer Zimmerman and his partner approached the vehicle as Cameron walked away. Cameron, ¶ 5. Zimmerman repeatedly ordered Cameron to return, but Cameron was rude, disrespectful, and refused to comply. Cameron, ¶¶ 5, 21. As a result, Zimmerman put Cameron in a "control position" and charged him with obstructing a peace officer. Cameron, ¶ 5.

On appeal, this Court held Cameron did not commit the offense of obstructing a peace officer by being rude and not following Zimmerman's instructions. *Cameron*, ¶ 10. Zimmerman was not under

investigation and the officers were able to conduct the DUI investigation without delay. *Cameron*, ¶ 12. Both officers did not need to assist in the DUI stop; one could do it alone. *Cameron*, ¶ 12. Zimmerman needlessly escalated the situation by putting Cameron in the "control position." This Court reversed the conviction and ordered the lower court to enter a judgment of acquittal. *Cameron*, ¶ 13.

In State v. Eisenzimer, 2014 MT 208, 376 Mont. 157, 330 P.3d 1166, Eisenzimer was drunk at 2:00 a.m. and approached Officer Holbrook in his patrol car while he was conducting a traffic stop. Eisenzimer, ¶ 3. Eisenzimer repeatedly badgered Holbrook for a ride home. Eisenzimer, ¶ 3. Holbrook told Eisenzimer to "keep walking" and warned him several times that he would be arrested if he did not stop interfering with the traffic stop, but Eisenzimer refused to leave. Eisenzimer, ¶ 3. As a result, Holbrook could not complete the traffic stop, so he charged Eisenzimer with obstructing a peace officer. Eisenzimer, ¶ 4.

This Court upheld the conviction on appeal. Holbrook had to completely shift his attention from the traffic stop to Eisenzimer's drunken antics, and Holbrook was only able to complete the traffic stop

after arresting Eisenzimer. As such, there was sufficient evidence that Eisenzimer knowingly impeded the traffic stop. *Eisenzimer*, \P 11.

A. Sean did not act knowingly.

Here, Sean had no reason to believe that he was under investigation or that recording the traffic stop would hinder Willey's ability to issue a traffic citation. Sean was peacefully sitting on his bicycle while recording from 15 feet away. (Tr. Audio at 04:52:00– 04:53:00; Video 2, at 00:05:18.) It was daytime, Willey could see Sean, and Sean was not intoxicated or acting unruly. (Video 2, at 00:05:18.) Sean, like Bennett and Cameron, was not under investigation. Unlike Eisenzimer, Sean did not approach Willey in his vehicle, and he was not drunkenly badgering the officer while he tried to conduct the traffic stop. Willey and Sean did not even interact before Minaglia arrived.

Minaglia was vague in why he was demanding Sean back up, just like Loya was vague about why he was questioning Bennett. Minaglia never told Sean that he was a "safety risk" and instead claimed he was "distracting," just like Loya claimed "something" was reported but never told Bennett that he was investigating an order of protection violation. Sean was going to be a "distraction" wherever he stood, because

Minaglia was called to the scene to "watch" Sean. Sean was not knowingly hindering the traffic stop; he was trying to exercise his First Amendment right to record.

B. Sean did not hinder Willey's investigation simply by recording the stop.

Sean did not "hinder" the traffic stop. Minaglia claimed he was "hindered from assisting officer Willey in his investigation," but Minaglia's only purpose for being at the scene was to "watch" Sean. (Tr. Audio at 04:10:00 & 05:05:00.) Willey did not ask for Minaglia's help to conduct the traffic stop, and the stop was ultimately completed without any delay, despite Minaglia never providing any assistance. (Tr. Audio at 03:52:00–03:54:00.)

Sean did not delay Willey from issuing Bearchild a citation. During the 90 seconds Minaglia interacted with Sean before arresting him, Willey was still waiting to receive Bearchild's driving history from dispatch so he could issue a citation. (Tr. Audio at 03:52:00–03:54:00.) The brief time Willey watched Sean's arrest was inconsequential to the traffic stop, because dispatch did not return Bearchild's information for several more minutes and he could not issue the citation without it. (*Id.*) Officer Kronan could have helped either Willey in the traffic stop or Minaglia "watch" Sean, but neither officer sought his help. Kronan was not enlisted for help until after Sean was arrested and only for the limited purpose of transporting his bike. (Tr. Audio at 04:15:00– 04:16:00.) The fact that neither Willey nor Minaglia asked this extra officer for help with the traffic stop or with moving Sean away from the scene shows Sean was not, in fact, hindering Willey's investigation.

Initially, Minaglia claimed he arrested Sean because he "ultimately refused" to back up. (Muni. Doc. 37.) But, both Minaglia's and Willey's bodycams show Sean walking backwards when he was arrested, and Minaglia's story changed at trial. (Videos 1 & 3.) Minaglia testified that Sean was moving "excessively slow" and "somewhat passively resisting." (Tr. Audio at 05:03:00–05:06:00.) Minaglia acknowledged that Sean was walking down the street and away from the traffic stop when he was arrested but claimed that did not "count as cooperation." (Tr. Audio at 05:05:00.)

Minaglia should have but failed to "respond with restraint." *See City of Houston v. Hill*, 482 U.S. 451, 471 (1987). He incorrectly assumed that Sean was a problem. Willey told dispatch that he had

"someone rolling up filming," (Video 1, at 00:04:07–00:004:12), but Minaglia incorrectly equated that to "a subject interfering with [Willey's] investigation." (Muni. Doc. 37.) Willey never told Minaglia or dispatch that Sean was interfering and Minaglia never took the opportunity to chat with Willey. (Video 3, at 00:00:15–00:00:25.) Instead, he rushed to assume Sean was interfering, rushed towards Sean, and rushed to order Sean to move so far away that he would not be able to record audio. (*Id.*)

Sean did not knowingly hinder the investigation by questioning why he was being told to back up so far. Sean's First Amendment protections allow him to "verbally oppose or challenge police action without thereby risking arrest[.]" *Hill*, 482 U.S. at 463. Sean wanted to record the audio—an aspect of police activity that has been critical in capturing the depth of police misconduct. He was allowed to briefly question why his right was being repressed without being subject to arrest, *see infra*.

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