04/25/2025

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0462

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 23-0462

CITY OF KALISPELL,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

SEAN MICHAEL DOMAN,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Eleventh Judicial District Court, Flathead County, The Honorable Robert Allison, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
THAD TUDOR
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
thad.tudor@mt.gov

JOHNNA PREBLE Kalispell City Attorney TYSON PARMAN Deputy City Attorney 312 First Avenue East Kalispell, MT 59903

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

This is not a case where plain error review is appropriate, as the jury, who was accurately instructed on the law, observed Doman interfere with

Officer Willey's investigation with their own eyes and ears. The verdict was a result of the jury comparing their own observations with the officers' testimony and logically concluding that the officers were credible.

Montana Code Annotated § 45-7-302 is not unconstitutional as-applied to the facts of this case. Officer Minaglia informed Doman more than once that he could record the stop, but asked him to do it from a safe distance. When Doman escalated his defiance to Officer Minaglia's request and forced Officer Willey to direct his attention towards Doman and away from the occupants of the stopped vehicle, he impaired and hindered the investigation.

ARGUMENT

I. Standards of review

A claim of insufficiency of the evidence is reviewed de novo regardless of whether it was raised below. *State v. Rodriguez*, 2024 MT 132, ¶ 10, 417 Mont. 52, 551 P.3d 292 (citation omitted). "When reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, this Court determines whether, after reviewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found

the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.* (citation omitted).

This Court has consistently held that it will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Reim*, 2014 MT 108, ¶ 38, 374 Mont. 487, 323 P.3d 880; *State v. Taylor*, 2010 MT 94, ¶ 12, 356 Mont. 167, 231 P.3d 79. This Court may review an unpreserved claim alleging a violation of a fundamental constitutional right under the common law plain error doctrine where the defendant invokes the Court's inherent authority and establishes that failing to review the claimed error may result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, may leave unsettled the question of the fundamental fairness of the trial or proceedings, or may compromise the integrity of the judicial process. *Taylor*, ¶¶ 12-13. This Court invokes plain error review "sparingly, on a case-by-case basis, according to narrow circumstances, and by considering the totality of the circumstances." *State v. Williams*, 2015 MT 247, ¶ 16, 380 Mont. 445, 358 P.3d 127.

"A statute is presumed constitutional unless it conflicts with the constitution, in the judgment of the court, beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Brown*, 2022 MT 176, ¶ 29, 410 Mont. 38, 517 P.3d 177 (citation omitted). "Our review of constitutional questions is plenary." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Knudson*, 2007 MT 324, ¶ 12, 340 Mont. 167, 174 P.3d 469).

II. Any rational trier of fact could find that Doman knowingly hindered the performance of Officer Willey's investigation.

Pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 45-7-302, "[a] person commits the offense of obstructing a peace officer . . . if the person knowingly obstructs, impairs, or hinders the enforcement of the criminal law, the preservation of the peace, or the performance of a governmental function" In interpreting the statutory definition of "knowingly," this Court has held that "an individual obstructing a peace officer must engage in conduct under circumstances that make him or her aware that it is highly probable that such conduct will impede the performance of a peace officer's lawful duty." *City of Kalispell v. Cameron*, 2002 MT 78, ¶ 11, 309 Mont. 248, 46 P.3d 46 (interpreting Mont. Code Ann. §§ 45-2-101(35) (2011) and § 45-7-302(1)).

Since the jury's role is to "evaluate the credibility of witnesses, weigh the evidence, and ultimately determine which version of events should prevail," it is immaterial to this Court's review "whether the evidence could have supported a different result." *State v. Burnett*, 2022 MT 10, ¶ 15, 407 Mont. 189, 502 P.3d 703 (citations omitted); *see also State v. Fleming*, 2019 MT 237, ¶ 12, 397 Mont. 345, 449 P.3d 1234; *Byers v. Cummings*, 2004 MT 69, ¶ 16, 320 Mont. 339, 87 P.3d 465 (not this Court's function to agree or disagree with the jury's verdict since the jurors determine the weight and credibility afforded to evidence).

This Court's inquiry into the sufficiency of the evidence turns on whether the evidence in the record could reasonably support a finding of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Crabb*, 232 Mont. 170, 173, 756 P.2d 1120, 1122 (1988).

But this inquiry does not require a court to "ask itself whether it believes whether the evidence at the trial established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." Instead, the relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. This familiar standard gives full play to the responsibility of the trier of fact fairly to resolve conflicts in testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts.

Crabb, 232 Mont. at 173, 756 P.2d at 1122 (citing State v. Lundblade, 221 Mont. 185, 717 P.2d 575 (1986) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis in original)).

When reviewing sufficiency of the evidence, this Court "will not substitute our judgment for that of the jury, which is able to view firsthand the evidence presented, observe the demeanor of the witnesses, and weigh the credibility of each party." *State v. Shields*, 2005 MT 249, ¶ 20, 328 Mont. 509, 122 P.3d 421. "It is only in those rare cases where the testimony of a witness is so inherently improbable or is so nullified by material self-contradiction that no fair-minded person could believe it, that we may say no firm foundation exists for the verdict based on it." *Id*.

In this case, the jurors were able to see and hear recordings of the incident and compare their personal observations to the officers' testimony. The jury heard

Officer Willey's lawfully executed stop. The jury watched Doman inject himself into the traffic stop and defiantly pick a fight with Officer Minaglia, thus forcing Officer Willey to divert his attention from the occupants of the stopped vehicle to Doman. After comparing the testimony of the officers to what they observed on the recordings, the jury concluded that the officers were credible.

Doman attempts to compare this case to *State v. Bennett*, 2022 MT 73, 408 Mont. 209, 507 P.3d 1154. (Appellant's Br. at 11-12.) This comparison is unpersuasive due to significant factual differences between *Bennett* and this case. Most notably, this Court determined that there was "nothing" that occurred during the officer's encounter with Bennett to show "that Bennett hindered Officer Loya's performance of his duty, much less that she was aware her conduct was highly probable to hinder the performance of that duty." *Bennett* ¶ 10.

This Court observed that:

In this case, after responding to all of Officer Loya's questions, Bennett turned to walk away as she was responding to what was, by all appearances, the end of Officer Loya's inquiry: "So, Angela, anything else you want to tell me?" In that moment, Bennett was immediately arrested without incident.

Bennett, ¶ 11.

Here, not only was Doman undeniably aware that officers were conducting an investigation, he was explicitly informed that he was distracting them from that

investigation. Further, unlike the officer in *Bennett*, Officer Minaglia gave Doman a clear and obvious choice: "Last warning, you can move over by that tree, or you can be arrested." (Video 3 at 01:39-43.) Unlike the defendant in *Bennett*, Doman chose to be arrested.

Doman claims that he "never refused to comply with [Mignalia's] order to back up, and Mignalia admitted as much at trial." (Appellant's Br. at 8.) This is not a realistic interpretation of the evidence. After Doman informed Officer Minaglia that, "I'd like to stand right here," the two had the following exchange:

OFFICER: Do you understand that my engagement with you is distracting me from this?

DOMAN: That's your fault. That's not my responsibility.

OFFICER: Can you please, can you please move forward, sir?

DOMAN: No.

OFFICER: Can you please move forward? [Officer takes phone and places it on the ground while directing Doman away from the traffic stop] I don't mind if you film.

DOMAN: Yeah, I'm gonna sue the fuck out of you now brah.

OFFICER: Okay, go ahead sir.

DOMAN: What's your name and badge number?

OFFICER: Officer Minaglia, K-34. Okay? Let's keep moving.

(Video 3 at 00:55-01:18 (emphasis added).)

After Doman verbally refused to move, what movement he did make was done in an obnoxiously slow and defiant manner, intended to demonstrate that he did not intend to obey the officer's lawful request. Doman attempts to portray the facts here as similar to *Cameron*, *supra*, where the defendant was unaware that law enforcement activity was occurring and therefore did not understand that refusing the officer's order would hinder an investigation. *Cameron*, ¶¶ 10-12. (Appellant's Br. at 12-13.)

In *Cameron*, this Court reversed the defendant's conviction because when he interacted with police, he did not know that an investigation or traffic stop was taking place. *Cameron*, $\P\P$ 10, 12. The officer approached the defendant without warning, after the vehicle in which he was a passenger had already come to a stop. *Id.* \P 4. Cameron had exited the vehicle and walked into a restaurant when the officer called out to Cameron. *Id.* \P 5. He complied with the officer's request to approach, but he refused to re-enter the vehicle. *Id.* The officer responded by using force to handcuff Cameron. *Id.*

Notably, another police officer who arrested Cameron's companion testified that the arrest took place without incident and his investigation was not impaired by Cameron's refusal to return to the vehicle. *Id.* \P 12.

This Court determined that "there was no evidence that Cameron impaired the investigation." *Id.* ¶ 10. This Court noted testimony that this "was not a normal

traffic stop during which officers follow a vehicle on the road and pull the vehicle over after activating their lights." Id. ¶ 4. Therefore, Cameron had no reason to know he was being investigated or arrested. Id. ¶ 12.

Under the facts of this case, until Doman arrived on the scene, this was a "normal traffic stop." Officer Willey's overhead lights were flashing and Doman was undeniably aware that Officer Willey was performing his duties as a law enforcement officer. That was the only basis for Doman approaching the stop and recording it in the first place. Importantly, the jury determined that Doman hindered the performance of Officer Willey's investigation after they watched and heard him do exactly that.

Doman urges this Court to conclude that because Officer Willey ultimately issued a citation to the driver of the stopped vehicle, he was not hindered or impeded in the performance of his lawful duty. (Appellant's Br. at 15.) This argument is unavailing because it disregards that Officer Willey had to take his attention "completely off of" the occupants of the stopped vehicle to assist Officer Minaglia. (Rec. at 3:20:18-23.)

As this Court observed in a similar case, *State v. Eisenzimer*, 2014 MT 208, 376 Mont. 157, 330 P.3d 1166:

[Officer] Holbrook was only able to complete his traffic stop after he arrested Eisenzimer. Prior to arresting Eisenzimer, Holbrook's attention to the performance of his duties—i.e., the traffic stop—was diverted by responding to Eisenzimer's repeated requests for a ride.

Although Holbrook acknowledged at trial that he did not think Eisenzimer intended to impede his work, Eisenzimer's subjective intent is not the issue. The issue is whether Eisenzimer engaged in conduct that impeded the performance of Holbrook's lawful duties under circumstances that made Eisenzimer aware it was highly probable his conduct would impede the performance of those duties. Reviewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the prosecution, we conclude that a rational trier of fact could have made such a finding beyond a reasonable doubt.

Eisenzimer, ¶ 11 (emphasis added).

The U.S. Supreme Court has recognized for decades that there is an "inordinate risk confronting an officer as he approaches a person seated in an automobile." *Pa. v. Mimms*, 98 S. Ct. 330, 336-37 (1977); *see also, Arizona v. Johnson*, 129 S. Ct. 781 (2009) (noting that traffic stops are "especially frought with danger to police officers").

And we have specifically recognized the inordinate risk confronting an officer as he approaches a person seated in an automobile. "According to one study, approximately 30% of police shootings occurred when a police officer approached a suspect seated in an automobile. Bristow, Police Officer Shootings—A Tactical Evaluation, 54 J. Crim. L.C. & P.S. 93 (1963)." *Adams* v. *Williams*, 407 U.S. 143, 148 n.3 (1972). We are aware that not all these assaults occur when issuing traffic summons, but we have before expressly declined to accept the argument that traffic violations necessarily involve less danger to officers than other types of confrontations. *United States v. Robinson*, 414 U.S. 218, 234 (1973). Indeed, it appears "that a significant percentage of murders of police officers occurs when the officers are making traffic stops." *Id.*, at 234 n.5.

Mimms, 98 S. Ct. at 336.

Law enforcement cannot be expected to tolerate behavior such as Doman's that distracts a peace officer from the occupants of a vehicle he is investigating, thereby hindering the performance of his lawful duties. After attempting to communicate with the occupants of the stopped vehicle, Doman felt entitled to loudly and profanely refuse to cooperate with Officer Minaglia. Doman diverted Officer Willey's attention from the vehicle he had stopped, thus hindering the investigation.

When Officer Minaglia pointed out that this was exactly what he was doing, Doman responded, "[t]hat's your fault. That's not my responsibility." (Video 2 at 00:55-01:18.) The unrefuted testimony established that Doman diverted Officer Willey's focus "completely off of" the stopped vehicle and its occupants. (Rec. at 3:20:18-32.) Therefore, as in *Eisenzimer*, *supra*, Doman knowingly impaired or hindered Officer Willey's traffic stop, and there was substantial evidence for any rational juror to conclude that he was guilty of obstructing a peace officer.

III. This Court should decline to invoke plain error to review Doman's unpreserved constitutional challenge and, if reviewed, it should be denied on the merits.

A. This Court should decline to invoke plain error

"It is axiomatic that [an appellate court] will not review an argument, much less a constitutional challenge, that is raised for the first time on appeal." *State v*.

Normandy, 2008 MT 437, ¶ 18, 347 Mont. 505, 198 P.3d 834 (citations omitted). "It is 'fundamentally unfair to fault the trial court for failing to rule on an issue it was never given the opportunity to consider." *State v. Whalen*, 2013 MT 26, ¶ 37, 368 Mont. 354, 295 P.3d 1055. Further, appellate courts avoid constitutional issues whenever possible. *Normandy*, ¶ 19.

The plain error doctrine is invoked, if at all, in cases of egregious miscarriages of justice or circumstances seriously calling into question the fairness of the proceedings. *See, e.g., State v. Barrows*, 2018 MT 204, ¶ 11, 392 Mont. 358, 424 P.3d 612 (trial court sua sponte reinstating previously dismissed charge); *State v. Lawrence*, 2016 MT 346, ¶¶ 4, 12, 386 Mont. 86, 385 P.3d 968 (prosecutor argued presumption of innocence no longer applies after close of evidence). In such cases, this Court will deviate from the general rule. *State v. Carter*, 2005 MT 87, ¶ 19, 326 Mont. 427, 114 P.3d 1001 (addressing unpreserved claim of Sixth Amendment issue due to the United States Supreme Court's opinion in *Crawford v. Washington*, 124 S. Ct. 1354 (2004)).

An error is plain if it results in a manifest miscarriage of justice, may leave unsettled the question of the fundamental fairness of the trial or proceedings, or may compromise the integrity of the judicial process. *Taylor*, ¶¶ 12-13. An error is plain only if it leaves this Court "firmly convinced" that some aspect of the trial, if not addressed, would result in one of the aforementioned consequences. *Id*. ¶ 17.

This Court has declined to invoke plain error review to as-applied constitutional objections that were not preserved for appeal. See, e.g., Brown, ¶ 32 ("Because his argument raises an as-applied challenge, we decline to consider it for the first time on appeal.").

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